IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

.
ANGELIA TAYLOR,
*
Plaintiff,
*
V. Civil Action No. RDB-18-0683
MARYLAND DEPARTMENT OF
HEALTH AND MENTAL *
HYGIENE,
*
Defendant.
* * * * * * * * * * * " *
MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff Angelia Taylor (“Plaindff” or “Taylor”), an African-American female, brings
this action against the Maryland Department of Health! (“Defendant”), alleging that she was
discriminated and retaliated against on the basis of her race in violation of Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000¢, ez seg., stemming from Personnel Action
Records and unsatisfactory work performance evaluations she received which ultimately led
to het termination. Currently pending before this Court is the Defendant’s Motion to
Dismiss or, in the alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment, which argues, inter alia, that
the Plaintiff was terminated because she failed to improve her work performance to a
satisfactory level within one-hundted and eighty days of receiving her first unsatisfactory
performance evaluation, pusrsuant to Code of Maryland Regulations 17.04.05.03G(1). (ECF

No. 15.) The parties’ submissions have been reviewed, and no hearing is necessary. JSee

1 The Plaintiff named the Defendant as the Maryland Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, which was
the department’s former name until July 1, 2017. The correct Defendant is the Maryland Department of
Health, and the Clerk is directed to substitute the Defendant and re-caption this case accordingly.
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Local Rule 105.6 (D. Md. 2016). For the reasons stated below, Defendant’s Motion (ECI
No. 15), &eated as one for Summary Judgment, is GRANTED and Judgment is ENTERED
in favor of the Defendant.

BACKGROUND

In ruling on a2 motion for summary judgment, this Court reviews the facts and all
reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Scot 2. Harris,
550 U.S. 372, 378 (2007); Hardwick ex rel. Hardwick v. Heyward, 711 F.3d 426, 433 (4th Cir.
2013). Plaintiff Taylor began working at Springfield Hospital Center (“Springfield”) in
September of 2006. (Compl, ECF No. 1 at § 7)) Springfield is a regional in-patient
psychiatric hospital operated by the Defendant Maryland Department of Health. (Schaeffer
Aff., ECF No. 14-2 at § 3; Md. Code Ann., Health-Gen § 10-406(a)(5).) At all relevant times,
Taylor wotked as a housekeeper and had the responsibility of maintaining clean and sanitary
patient units. (Schaeffer Aff., ECF No. 14-2 at |y 4-5.) The Human Resources Officer at
Springfield, Connie Schaeffer, testified to the importance of maintaining a clean and sanitary
environment for the patients at Springfield, some of whom pose a high risk of viclent and
unpredictable behavior due to mental illness. (J4. at 4.) Iﬁ order to carry out their job
dudes, housekeepers are given keys to th;ir assigned units. (I4.)

Employees at Springfield receive mid-cycle and end-of-cycle performance
evaluations. (Taylor Aff., ECF No. 18-4 at § 3.) The evaluadons consider overall work
quality and twenty behavioral factors in the areas of work ethic, team-work, communication,
customer service, Initiatives, and work performance. (ECF No. 14-10.) The employee is

rated for each factor on a scale of one through three, representing “unsatisfactory,”




“satisfactory,” and “outstanding” respectively. (I4) The employee’s scores are then averaged
for a total rating which also falls into one of the three categories. (Id.) Specifically, a total
rating of 3.00-2.75 is outstanding, 2.74-1.75 is satisfactory, and 1.74-1.00 is unsatisfactory.
(Id) If an employee’s total rating falls into the unsatisfactory range, the following Code of
Maryland Regulations (“COMAR?”) provision is implicated:

G. Performance Appraisals.

(1) When an ecmployee has been given an overall rating of
“unsatisfactory” on an annual performance appraisal, the employee’s
supervisor shall inform the employee that the employee has 180 days
from issuance of the rating to improve to the level of “satisfactory”.
Approximately midway through the 180-day period, the employee and
the employee’s supervisor shall meet to evaluate the employee’s
progress toward a satisfactory rating. Failure to meet standards at the
end of the 180-day pcriod shall result in the employee’s termination.

COMAR 17.04.05.03G(1), Disciplinary Actions Related to Employee Performance.

Taylor asserts that from 2007 to 2015, she received satisfactory performance ratings
on all of her evaluadons. (ECF No. 18-4 at § 3.) On her last satisfactory end-of-cycle
evaluation, covering July 1, 2014 through june of 2015, she specifically received a total rating
of 1.90. (ECF No. 18-7.) Accotdingly, her score fell in the “satisfactory” range, albeit at the
low end. (ECF No. 18-7.) In “Tasks to be Achieved,” her supervisor Jeffrey Belt wrote “[t]ry
to come to work on time and use less of your leave.” (Jd) In “Supervisor’s Comments,” he
further wrote “[w}hen Angelia comes to work she does a very good job . . .. Angelia needs to
work on her lateness and absentee (sic). I am here to help as much as I can to make your

[s]ituation better.” (I4) An interoffice memorandum indicates that on her subsequent mid-

cycle evaluation in December of 2015, Plaintiff received another satisfactory score. (14,




About a month before Plaintiff was scheduled to receive her end-of-cycle evaluation
for july 1, 2015 thtough June of 2016, on May 13, 2016, Taylor’s Registered Nurse
Supetvisor, Tabitha Trageser, a multi-racial female, prepared a Clinical-Support Services
Statement Form concerning Taylor. (ECF No. 14-4.) Specifically, the Form indicated that
Trageser had observed Taylot the day prior around 2:30 p.m. sitting in a chair in the hallway
with her eyes closed and her head down. (Id) Two other employees, Ben Sijt;:ra and Dana
Showman, also filled out Clinical-Suppott Services Statement Forms explaining that they had
similarly scen Taylor sitting in the hallway with her eyes closed and head down on May 12,
2016. (ECF Nos. 14-5, 14-6.)

On May 16, 2016, Plaintiff met with Trageser to discuss “rumors™ she had heard
about her work performance. (T'aylor Aff., ECF No. 18-4 at § 7.) Taylor denied that she was
performing pootly, and told Trageser that she believed she was being “singled out for
discriminatory treatment” due éo her race and gender. (I4)) She also told Trageset that there
was a Caucasian male housekeeper who had worked in the same unit before Taylor, who
performed his job duties and assignments pootly but was never disciplined. (/4) Later that
day, Trageser filled out a Clinical-Support Setvices Statement Form describing het
conversations with Taylor. (ECF No. 18-8.) She wrote that Taylor had enteted her office
upset and angry, talking about a “white guy” that was looking around her unit the Friday
before with her supervisors. (J4) In addition, a supervisor had stated that Taylor did not do
her job and someone from her unit had called to complain. (I} According to Taylor, this
was happening because she was a black female, and another Caucasian male had not been

similarly disciplined. ({2)




On May 17, 2016, Dan Triplett, the Director of Environmental Services for Taylor’s
unit, prepated a Personnel Action Record (“PAR”) with respect to Taylor and the event that
had occurred five days prior on May 12, 2016.2 (ECF No. 14-3.) Plaintaff testified that
although she never called anyone “the white guy,” Triplett is the person to whom Trageser’s
Statement Form referred. (ECF No. 18-4 at § 10.) Taylor further testified that prior to May
17, Triplett had never directly initdated a PAR against her. (I4) The PAR described that
Taylor was observed by three separate nursing employees around 2:30 p.m.,, sitting in a chair
with her eyes closed and head down while patients were on the unit and in the immediate
area. (ECF No. 14-3.) The PAR also indicates that a mitigating meeting was held in which
Taylor denied that she had been in that condition. (J4) Ultimately, Plaintiff was suspended
five days for this incident. (I4) The PAR is also signed by the Department Head, Jeffrey
Belt. (Id.)

That same day—May 17, 2016—Dan Triplett generated two other PARs concerning
Taylot. One described that on May 13, 2016, Taylor’s unit was observed “in an unacceptable
state in terms of cleanliness.” (ECF No. 14-7.) Specifically, the area did not appear to have
been dust mopped and the bathrooms and patient bedrooms were not cleaned. (/4) The
parties held another mitigating meeting, in which Taylor asserted that there were nurses who
did not tell her when cettain padents wete discharged. (I4) She also noted that she would try
to improve her work petformance. (I4) Uldmately, she was suspended one day for this

incident. (I4) The other PAR noted that when Triplett was on Taylor’s unit around 2:00 p.m.

2 A PAR is a document prepared when an employee has an attendance issue or is involved in an accident.
(ECF No. 14-2 at 1 6.) Following a PAR, an investgation is conducted into the conduct, a2 mitigating
conference is held with the employee, and then a decision is made as to whether discipline is warranted. (Id)
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on May 13, she was not present and no one knew her whereabouts. (ECF No. 18-11.)

On June 8 and 22, 2016, Taylor was orally counseled on her use of sick leave. (ECF
No. 14-11.) Taylor had previously been counseled on her use of sick leave on December 16,
2015. (I4) On both the December 16 and June 8 Sick Leave Review Forms, Taylor was
noted to have had a “consistent pattern of maintaining a zero or near zero balance of sick
leave without documentation of the need for such telatively high utilization.” (fd) The June
22 Form then specifically indicated that Taylor had taken six undocumented occasions of
sick leave from July 1, 2015 ;:hrough June 21, 2016. (I4.)

On or around June 23, 2016, Plaintiff received her end-of-cycle performance
evaluation for July 1, 2015 through June of 2016. (ECF No. 14-10.) She received 2 total
rating of 1.73 out of 3, placing het in the “unsatisfactory” range. (Id) In “Tasks to be
Achieved,” Taylor was told to “work on [her] lateness and taking off” (/4) Theteafter,
Taylor was provided with a “Performance Improvement Plan.” (ECF No. 14-12) In
addition, on June 23, 2016, Springfield sent Taylor a letter indicating that due to her
| unsatisfactory score, Code of Maryland Regulatdons (“COMAR”) 17.04.05.03G(1),
Disciplinary Actions Related to Employee Performance, was implicated. (ECF No. 14-17.)
Accordingly, the Plaintiff was informed that she had one-hundred and eighty days to
improve to “meets standards” or she would be terminated. (ECF No. 14-17.)

Less than a month later, on July 7, 2016, Connie Schaeffer, the Human Resources
Officer, initiated a PAR against Plaintiff for violating Springfield’s policy on hospital keys.
(ECF No. 14-13.) The PAR states that Taylor had lost her hospital keys, including keys to

the hospital’s impatient psychiattic admissions unit, and did not notify her supervisor or



complete the required incident report. (I4) A few months later, in October of 2016, Plaintiff
received an additional three PARs. On October 4, 2016, she received a PAR as a result of an
email Trageser sent the Director of Housekeeping and Nursing Administraton. (ECF No.
18-16.) According to the PAR, the email detailed a health risk on Taylor’s unit that Trageser
believed was a result of Taylot’s failure to maintain the appropriate infection control cleaning
procedures. (I4) As a result, she was suspended for three days. (I4) The next day, two PARs
were initiated against the Plaintff. One PAR was similar to the October 4, 2016 Report;
Trageser had also emailed the Director of Housekeeping and Nursing Administration
describing how Taylor had been observed leaving a mop bucket and mop unattended,
posing a safety risk to patients. (ECF No. 18-17.) The other October 5, 2016 PAR indicated
that management had been informed by both Trageser and the psychologist assigned to
Taylor’s unit that Taylor was “displaying inappropriate boundaries with the patients on her
assigned unit” including “shating too much personal information with our patients.” (ECF
No. 14-14.) As a result of this PAR, Taylor received counseling. (/4.)

On October 24, 2016, Plaintiff received a ninety-day performance review. (ECF No.
14-15.) She received another scote in the unsatisfactory range, this time a 1.50. ({d) Her
supervisor, Jeffrey Belt, noted that since Taylor’s June 23, 2016 evaluation, she had received
two three-day susi)ensions for “failing to properly catry| Jout her assigned duties thus posing
an infection control risk for patients and staff.” (I4) Around two months later, on December
14, 2016, Taylot teceived anothet performance review that indicated that her performance

remained overall unsatisfactory at a score of 1.59. (ECF No. 14-16.) In the evaluation, Belt

noted that Taylor “has not been receptive to education or training and does not take




responsibility for safety and effectively carrying out her assigned duties. Unfortunately, Ms.
Taylor’s performance has not improved since her last radng Co7 (4D

On January 6, 2017, Plaintiff’s employrﬁent with the Defendant was terminated.
(ECF No. 18-20.) Her Notce of Termination indicated that she was fired under COMAR
17.04.05.03G for failure to improve her petformance valuation above ‘“unsatisfactory”
within one-hundred and cighty days of her first unsatisfactory review. (Id) The Notice
described the incidents that led to Taylor’s unsatisfactory rating, and concluded that “[a]fter .
consideting the employee’s entire personnel record, the violations cited, the scriousness of
her unwillingness to consistently, safely and propetly carry out her assigned duties and her
mitigating circumstances|,] it has been determined that termination is the only appropriate
response.” (Id) The Plaintiff then filed a Charge of Discrimination against the Defendant
with the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EIEOC”), and later filed an
Amended Charge on or around June 2, 2017. (ECF No. 1 at § 5.) (I4)

On Februatry 3, 2017, Taylor also appealed her termination to the Secretary of the
Department of Budget and Management, which forwarded her case to the Office of
Administrative Hearings. (ECF No. 18-21.) After holding a hearing, John ]. Leidig,
Administrative Law Judge, found that the Defendant lawfully terminated the Plaintff in
compliance with COMAR 17.04.05.03G(1). (J4) On March 8, 2018, Plaintiff filed suit in this
Coutt, alleging that the Defendant discriminated and retaliated against her on the basis of
her race in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e, ¢f seg.

As of the time Taylor filed this action, on March 8, 2018, she had not received a

finding or right to sue notice from the EEOQC indicating whether the EEOC’s investigation




determined that a violation of Title VII occurred. Before filing suit in this Court, a plaintiff
must have either received a right to sue letter, or been entitled to receive a right to sue letter,
from the EEOC. See Murphy-Taylor v. Hofmann, 968 F. Supp. 2d 693 (D. Md. 2013}
(summatizing cases and concluding that filing suit before receiving a right to sue letter
“presents no jutisdictional impediment” so long as the plaintiff was entitled to a right to sue
letter). In Maryland, a deferral state, the EEOC is directed to issue a right to sue letter
within, at the latest, 240 days of the filing of a charge. Id at 714. Here, the Plaintiff filed her
Charges on or around January 13, 2017 and June 2, 2017, and therefore over 240 days passed
before Taylor filed her Complaint.
STANDARD OF REVIEW

Defendant’s motion is styled as a Motion to Dismiss under Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 12(b)(6) or, in the Alternative, for Summary Judgment under Rule 56. A court “is
not to considerrmatters outside the pleadings or resolve factual disputes when ruling on a
motion to dismiss.” Besiger . US. Airpays, 510 F.3d 442, 450 (4th Cir. 2007). If it does so,
“the motion must be treated as one for summary judgment under Rule 56.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
12(d). Therefore, a motion styled in this manner implicates a court’s discretion under Rule
12(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Kemsington Vol Fire Dept., Inc. v. Montgomery
County, 788 F. Supp. 2d 431, 436-37 (D. Md. 2011). A district judge has “complete discretion
to determine whether ot not to accept the submission of any rﬁaterial beyond the pleadings
that is offered in conjunction with a Rule 12(b)(6) motion and rely on it, thereby converting
the motion, or to reject it or simply not consider it.” Sager v. Hous. Com’n of Anne Arundel Cty.,

855 F. Supp. 2d 524, 542 (D. Md. 2012) {quoting 5C Wright & Miller, Federal Practice &




Procedure § 1366, at 159 (3d ed. 2004, 2011 Supp.)).

In suppott of treating the motion as one for summary judgment, the Defendant
attached several exhibits. (ECF No. 14.) Although the Plaindff argues that summary
judgment is inapproptiate and requests discovery, the Plaintiff also attached several exhibits
to her Response to the Motion to Dismiss. (ECF No. 18.) As explained in detail below, in
order for Plaintiff to ultimately succeed on her discrimination claim, she must first make out
a prima facie case by proving, among other things, that her job performance was meeting the
Defendant’s legitimate expectations. For her retaliation claim, she must prove that a causal
connection existed between her alleged protected activity, her complaint of discrimination,
and the adverse employment action. Relevant to both of these inquiries are Plaintiff’s
Personnel Action Records and performance evaluations that show she was not performing
at a satisfactory level. Therefore, this Court, in the exércise of its discretion, considers the
parties’ submissions and treats Defendant’s Motion as a Motion for Summary Judgment.

Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedute provides that a court “shall grant
summary judgment if [a] movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material
fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). A
" material fact is one that “might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing law.”
I zbertarian Party of Va. v. Judd, 718 F.3d 308, 313 (4th Cir. 2013) (quoting Anderson v. Liberty
Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)). A genuine issue over a material fact only exists “if the
evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the non-moving party.”
Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248. While the non-moving patty must “do more than simply show

that thete is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts,” Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. ».
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Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586 (1986), a court must consider the facts and all
reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Judd, 718 F.3d at
312; see also Scott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 378 (2007).
ANALYSIS
I Discrimination claim (Count I)

The Plaintiff Taylor’s Complaint alleges that the Defendant discriminated against her
and treated her less favorably than her Caucasian counterparts in violation of Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964 (“Title VII”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000¢, ez seg. Title VII makes it unlawful
“to discriminate against any individual with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions,
or privileges of employment, because of such individual’s race . . .7 § 2000e-2(2)(1). Whete,
as here, the Plaindff has not presented any direct evidence of discrimination, she must
establish her claim by circumstantal evidence through the “pretext” frémework established
in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 1817 (1973).

Under the “pretext” framework, the burden is first on Plaintiff to make a prima facie
case of disparate treatment by proving that (1) she is 2 member of a protected class; (2) she
suffered an adverse employment action; (3) she was meeting her employer’s legitimate
expectations at the time of the adverse employment action; and (4) similarly situated
employees outside of her class received more favorable treatment. Wilkams v. Sifver Spring
Volunteer Fire Dept., 86 F. Supp. 3d 398, 420 (D. Md. 2015) (citing Colernan v. Md. Court of
Appeals, 626 F.3d 187, 190 (4th Cir. 2010)). If Taylor makes this showing, the second step
places the burden on the employer to assert a “legitimate, non-discriminatory reason” for the

disparate treatment. McDonnel/ Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802, 93 S.Ct. 1817. If the employer meets
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this step, the burden then shifts back to the plaindgff to demonstrate that the employer’s
putported reason was “pretextual” As this Court stated in Vemngopal v. Shire Labs., 334 F.
Supp. 2d 835 (D. Md. 2004), aff’d sub #om, 134 F. App'x 627 (4th Cir. 2005), “[wjhile
the McDonnell Donglasr framework involves a shifting back and forth of the evidentiary
burden, Plaintiff, at all times, retains the ultimate burden of persuading the trier of fact that
the employer discriminated in violation of Title VIL.” 534 F. Supp. 2d at 841.

It is undisputed that as an African-American female, Taylor is a member of a
protected class. In addition, her termination is clearly an adverse employment action because
it “adversely affect[ed] the terms, conditions, ot benefits of [her] employment.” Heolland ».
Washington Homes, Inc., 487 F.3d 208, 214 (4th Cir. 2007) (quoting James ». Boog-Allen &
Hamilion, Inc., 368 F.3d 371, 375 (4th Cir. 2004)). As to the PARs, the Defendant argues that
they are not adverse employment actions because PARs are not in and of themselves
discipline; rather, a PAR “is merely an allegaton of wrongdoing that is investigated.” (ECF
No. 1-1 at § 6.} The Plainﬁff does not ditectly respond to this argument in her Opposition to
the Defendant’s Motion, but this Court notes that some of the PARs led to the Plaintff
being suspended for multiple days. See Stoyanor v. Mabus, 126 F. Supp. 3d 531, 543 (D. Md.
2015) (“The letter of reprimand, &y #self, does not constitute adverse employment action.”)
(citation omitted) (emphasis added). Without determining whether the PARs are in fact
adverse employment actions, the record is clear that the Defendant is entitled to summary
judgment on this claim because the Plaintiff has not proven her prima facie case.

To prove a prima facie case of disparate treatment, Taylor has the burden of showing,

by a preponderance of the evidence, that she was meeting her employer’s legitimate jbb
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~expectations. Williams, 86 F. Supp. 3d at 420. “[Tlhe prima facie case requires the employee to
demonstrate ‘that he was qualified in the sense that he was doing his job well enough to rule
out the possibility that he was fired for inadequate job performance, absolute or relative.”
Warch v. Obio Cas. Ini. Co., 435 F.3d 510, 514-15 (4th Cir. 2006} (quoting Loeeb v. Textron,
Ine., 600 F.2d 1003, 1013 n. 10 {ist Cir. 1979)). As explained below, the Plaintiff was not
meeting the Defendant’s legitimate expectations at the time the PARs were issued ot when
she was discharged, and therefore the Defendant is entitled to summary judgment on this
claim. See McZeke v. Horry County, No. 13-2320, 609 F. App’x 140 (4th Cir. May 1, 2015)
(affirming the district court’s grant of summary judgment against the plaintiff on his
discriminatory discharge claim because he failed to prove that he was meeting the employet’s
legitimate expectations).

Taylor emphasizes that from 2007 through 2015, she received scores on her mid-
cycle and end-of-cycle performance evaluations in the satisfactory range. This Court notes,
however, that on her last satisfactory end-of-cycle evaluation, covering July 1, 2014 through
June of 2015, Taylor received a total rating of 1.90—just 0.15 short of an unsatisfactory
score. (ECF No. 18-7.) Further, on that evaluation, Taylor’s supervisor identified “Tasks to
be Achieved” as coming to work on time and using less leave, and he otherwise indicated
that she needed to work on not being late and absent. (Id)

After this review, the Plaintiff’s misuse of leave time and failure to perform her job

duties were documented multiple times through PARs and reports that she was orally

counscled on her misuse of sick leave. These events resulted in Taylor receiving an

unsatisfactory scote on her end-of-cycle evaluation for July 1, 2015 through June of 2016,
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with a score of 1.73. (ECF No. 14-10.) The unsatisfactory score triggeted Code of Maryland
Regulations (“COMAR™) 17.04.05.03G(1), and Taylor was informed that she had one-
hundred and eighty days to improve to a satisfactory rating. About a month later, however,
she received a Notice of Disciplinary Action fot violating Springfield’s policy on hospital
keys (ECF No. 14-13) and three PARSs (ECF Nos. 14-14, 18-16, 18-17). At her ninety and
one-hundred and eighty day teviews, her performance evaluations indicated that she
remained at an unsatisfactory score. As a result, her employment was terminated. When she
appealed het termination to the Secretary of the Department of Budget and Management, an
administrative law judge held a hearing and determined that the Defendant lawfully
terminated the Plaindff in compliance with COMAR 17.04.05.03G(1).? (ECF No. 18-21.)
Taylor does not attempt té argue that the performance evaluations did not reflect the

Defendant’s legitimate expectations. See Warch v. Ohbio Cas. Ins. Co., 435 F.3d 510, 517 (4th

Cir. 2006) (“[W]hete application of the qualification ot expectation element of the prima facte

case seems to preclude an otherwise meritorious claim, the plaintiff is free to demonstrate
that the employer’s qualifications or expectations are not, in fact, ‘legitimate.”) There is also

no evidence in the record, and in fact the record contradicts, Taylot’s argument that she was

3 The Defendant also argues that the Plaintiff’s Complaint is barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel
given the findings of fact and conclusions of law made by the ALJ. (ECF No. 14 at 19-20.) Under Maryland
law, for collateral estoppel to bar relitigation of an issue, the defendant must demonstrate that (1) “the issue
decided in the prior adjudication [was] identical with the one presented in the action in question™; (2) “there
[was] a final judgment on the merits”; (3) “the party against whom the plea is asserted [was] a pariy of in
privity with a party to the prior adjudication™; and (4) “the party against whom the plea is asserted [was] given
a fair opportunity to be heard on the issue.” Garrity v. Maryland State Bd. of Plumbing, 447 Md. 359, 135 A3d
452, 459 (2016). As the Plaintiff notes, the ALJ’s Decision explicitly concerned whether the Defendant
complied with COMAR, not whether Taylor was subject to unlawtul discrimination or retaliation as is at issue
here. (ECF No. 18-21 at 9.) Accordingly, this argument is without merit.
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targeted by Dan Triplett because of her race after her conversation with Trageser on May 16,
2016.

Taylor argues that racial animus is evident in this case because Triplett did not
“target” her undl after he learned that she complained to Trageser on May 16, 2016 about -
discrimination and called Ttiplett “the white guy.” (ECF No. 18-1 at 12) The Plaintiff’s
performance issues, however, were documented prior to her meeting with Trageser on May
16, 2016. First, as explained above, Taylor’s 2014-2015 end-of-year evaluation indicated that
there were problems with her use of leave time and that she was often late, or absent, to
work. (ECF No. 18-7.) In addition to her evaluation, she was counseled on her use of sick
leave on December 16, 2015. (ECF No. 14-11.) Second, on May 13, 2016, three days prior to
the meeting with Trageser, three separate individuals—including Trageser, a multi-racial
female—submitted Clinical-Support Services Statement Forms indicating that they had
observed Taylor the day prior around 2:30 p.m. sitting in a chair in the hallway with her eyes
closed and her head down. (ECF Nos. 14-4, 14-5, 14-6.) These three accounts were the basis
of Triplet’s PAR that he generated on May 17, 2016. (ECF No. 14-3) The other PARs that
Triplet initiated that day concerned his observations on May 13, 2016 of Taylor’s unit “in an
unacceptable state in terms of cleanliness” and Taylor’s absence around 2:00 p.m. (ECF Nos.
14-7, 18-11.) This is consistent with Taylor stating during the May 16 meeting that Triplett
and supervisors had been on her unit the Friday before. Accordingly, the PARs initiated a
few days after Taylor’s meeting with Trageser concerned conduct that occurred prior fo the

meeting, and were supported with accounts by third parties.
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Finally, the recotd contains numerous examples of Plaintiff failing to properly
perform her job duties after her first unsatisfactory work performance rating. Less than a
month after her unsatisfactory 2015-2016 end-of-cycle performance evaluation, Schaeffer,
the Human Resources Officer, filed a PAR aftet Plaintiff violated Springficld’s policy on
hospital keys. In October of 2016, Trageser prompted two PARs against the Plaintiff for
failing to meet certain cleanliness standards on her unit. Finally, Triplett initiated a PAR after
Trageser and the unit’s psychologist observed Taylor “displaying inappropriate boundaties
with the patients on her assigned unit” including “sharing too much personal information
with our patients.” (ECF No. 14-14.) The Plintiff's Notice of Termination then identified
both the causes and explanation for the tetmination of her employment. (ECF No. 18-20.)
For all of these reasons, there are no genuine issues of material fact concerning Plaintiff’s
failure to meet the Defendant’s legitimate expectatons when she received the PARs or was
terminated, and she has not otherwise cartied her burden of proving she was discriminated
against in violation of Title VIL.* Accordingly, because the Plaintiff has not established a
prima face case of discrimination under Title VII, the Defendant’s Motion for Summary
Judgment on the Plaintiff’s discrimination claim (Count I) is GRANTED.

II. Retaliation claim (Count IT)

This Court now turns to the Plaintiff’s claim that she was retaliated against for

+ As to the fourth prong of a prima faciz case of disparate treaunent, the Plaintiff has neither adequately alleged
nor presented any evidence that similarly situated employees outside of her protected class received more
favorable treatment. Wiliamrs, 86 F. Supp. 3d at 420 (D. Md. 2015). In her Response to the Motion to
Dismiss, the Plaintiff conceded that two of the three alleged comparators referenced in the Complaint are not
similatly situated. (ECF No. 18-1 at 12.} As to the third alleged comparator, the Plaintiff has only provided
this Court with the vague, conclusory allegations that there was a white male housekeeper who had worked
on the unit before her and “did not do as good [of] a job as [her],” but was not disciplined for his “work
failures.” (ECF No. 18-4 at Y] 7.) This is insufficient to satisfy a showing that a similarly situated individual was
treated more favorably than Taylor.
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engaging in the protected activity of complaining to Trageser about racé and gender
discrimination. A plaintiff may also use the McDonnel! Douglas burden-shifting approach to
prove a tetaliation claim. Swrth v. First Union Nat'l Bank, 202 F.3d 234, 248 (4th Cir. 2000). In
ordetr to establish a prima facie case of retaliation, a plaintiff must show that “(1) the
employee engaged in protected activity; (2) the employer took adverse employment action
against the employee; and (3) a causal connection existed between the protected activity and

the adverse action.” Munday v. Waste Mgmt. of N. Am., Inc, 126 F3d 239, 242 (4th Cir.

1997); see also McKinney v. G453 Government Solutions, Inc., No. 16-1498, 711 F. App’x (4th Cit.

Oct. 19, 2017). Regarding the third prima facie element, Title VII requires a plaintiff to show
“but for” causation. Undv. of Tex. Southwestern Med. Ctr. 17 Nassar, 133 S. Ct. 2517 (2013).

The Plaindff argues that in response to engaging in the protected activity of

complaining to Trageser about race and gender discrimination, the Defendant “took

immediate adverse action against” her by issuing her multiple disciplinary write ups within
two days. (ECF No. 1 at Y 20-21.) The Plaintiff’s argument ignores, however, that as
explained above, the PARs issued to the Plaintff after her conversation with Trageser wete
based on conduct that occurred prior fa the meeting. Moreover, the first PAR was based off of
observations by third patties, the three nursing employees. The second and third PARs were
initiated by Triplett and cortoborated by Taylor’s statements to Trageser that he had been on
her unit the Friday before, which prompted Taylor’s meeting with Trageser in the first
instance. The PARs themselves then did not result in any disciplinary action until after the
allegations were investigated and a mitigating conference was held with Taylor. (ECF No.

14-2 at 9 6.) Therefore, even assuming that the PARs constituted adverse employment
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actions and Triplett knew about Taylor’s conversation with Trageser when he issued them,
there is no genuine dispute of fact that Taylor’s conversation was nof the but-for cause for
the PARs. Rather, her conduct ptior to Taylor’s conversaton with Trageser formed their
basis. As to Plaintff’s termination, for the reasons explained above the record is clear that
Plaintiff was terminated only after her evaluation ratings became unsatisfactory and she
failed to improve to satisfactory within one-hundred and eighty days as outlined by COMAR
17.04.05.03G(1). Therefore, Plainaff has not proven a prima facie case of retaliation and the
Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment is GRANTED as to this claim (Count II).
CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Defendant’s Motion (ECF No. 15), treated as one for
Summary Judgment, is GRANTED and Judgment is ENTERED in favor of the Defendant.
A separate order follows.

Dated: November 1, 2018 _&M

Richard D. Bennett
United States District Judge
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